

Doctoral School of Sociology and Communication Science

THESIS SYNOPSIS

Hámori Ádám

Well-being and Christianity

Relationship between Contemporary European Religiosity and Subjective Well-Being

PhD Dissertation

Supervisor:

Rosta Gergely PhD associate professor

Budapest, 2021

Department of Sociology and Social Policy

THESIS SYNOPSIS

Hámori Ádám

Well-being and Christianity

Relationship between Contemporary European Religiosity and Subjective Well-Being

PhD Dissertation

Supervisor:

Rosta Gergely PhD associate professor

© Hámori Ádám, 2021

Table of contents

1.	RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES	4
	1.1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	4
	1.2. RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESES	
2.	METHODS	. 11
	2.1. ANALYTIC STRATEGY	. 11
	2.2. DATA AND VARIABLES	
3.	FINDINGS OF THE EMPIRICAL RESEARCH	. 14
	3.1. MAIN RESULTS	. 14
	3.2. IMPLICATIONS	. 20
4.	REFERENCES	. 21
5.	RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS BY THE AUTHOR	. 30

1. RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

1.1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

This research aims at a deeper understanding of the assumed causal relationship between religiosity and subjective well-being in contemporary Europe. Earlier research suggested a positive link between religiosity and happiness even when controlled for socio-demographic background. While the relationship between religious commitment and diverse elements of subjective well-being (health, perceived social status, life satisfaction, positive emotions etc.) is an emergent research field, the causality of this relationship and mechanisms that can explain it need further scrutiny. Large-scale cross-national longitudinal surveys including data on religiosity and well-being provide important data for gaining explanations that are more reliable. Therefore, I build this research on the multivariate statistical secondary analysis of a cross-national quantitative database offering a variety of information on religiosity and well-being.

The relationship between religion and social structural positions and material well-being has been evidenced in various contexts by, among others, Darnell and Sherkat (1997), Sherkat and Darnell (1999), Davis and Robinson (2001), Hegedűs (2001), Sander (2002), Lipford and Tollison (2003), Rosta (2007), Sherkat (2008), Glaeser and Sacerdote (2008), Hungerman (2014), Keister (2003, 2008), Schieman (2010) and Spenkuch (2017). A number of research findings focus on the issue how religious persuasion or belonging relate with social status, and how this influences happiness. (Lelkes, 2002; Gyorgyovich and Pillók, 2014; Bradshaw and Ellison, 2010; Hoverd and Sibley, 2013; Gundlach and Opfinger, 2013)

However, the direction of the association is apparently unclear or context-dependent. Notably, material well-being showed a variability across religions and denominations. Among others, Davis and Robinson (2001), Spenkuch (2017) or Jagodzinski (2009) have observed the contribution of different denominations to the persistence of various work values or ethics. Furthermore, Malka and Chatman (2003) evidenced that differing work orientations affected higher subjective well-being, job satisfaction and income on the long run differently.

As to the individual level, faith and happiness are, according to several studies, closely linked. As Francis (2011), reviewing relevant theoretical literature and some empirical findings, concludes, "a clear and consistent positive association exists between religion and happiness", despite the lack of clarity and consistency in the conceptualization of the two (Francis, 2011, p. 113). Research into this relationship goes back as early as the 1970s: Hadaway (1978) suggested that people claiming to be religious showed a higher level of life satisfaction compared to non-

religious population. More recently, Diener et al (1999), Sherkat and Ellison (1999), Dolan, Peasgood and White (2008), Myers (2008), Rosta (2011) and Fidrmuc and Tunalı (2015), among many others, admitted that religion may have had a positive effect on subjective wellbeing. However, some scholars debated the positive association between religiousness and happiness (see, for example, Argyle and Hills, 2000; Francis, Ziebertz and Lewis, 2003; Stolz, 2009; Sillick, Stevens and Cathcart, 2016). Snoep (2008) found only an insignificantly weak correlation or a relationship that was significant in certain parts. Diener, Tay and Myers (2011), Cohen and Johnson (2017), Ross et al (2009), Mochon, Norton and Ariely (2011) Monnot and Stolz (2016) and Van Cappellen et al (2016). Importance of the context and the differentiation of dimensions was stressed by Graham and Crown (2014), and Van de Velde, Van der Bracht and Buffel (2017).

Certain elements of the religious teachings have already proved to be related with subjective well-being. Azzi and Ehrenberg (1975) have offered an already classical example of a proposed explanation, which is based on the content of belief. More recent findings are by Ferriss (2002), Clark and Lelkes (2006), Dehejia, DeLeire and Luttmer (2007), Beard et al (2011), Bruce et al (2005), McCullough and Worthington (1999), Fisher (2013), Hui et al (2014), Bradshaw, Ellison and Marcum (2010), Ellison et al (2013), Wilt et al (2017), Janssen et al (2005). However, Kennedy (1999) or Schuurmans-Stekhoven (2011) partly opposed these findings. What might partly explain these contradictions is a complexity of belief and faith; see, for example, Martos, Kézdy and Horváth-Szabó (2011). Role of meaning in life as an important contributor to well-being has been empirically convincingly justified, for example, by Oishi, Diener, Suh and Lucas (1999), Oishi, Diener, Lucas and Suh (1999), Steger and Frazier (2005), Headey et al (2010), Diener, Tay and Myers (2011), Grouden and Jose (2015). This relationship is by no means straightforward, however; see Ardelt (2003), Francis, Jewell and Robbins (2010), Affrime (2011), Halama, Martos and Adamovová (2010), Martos and Kopp (2012).

Observing a religious tradition makes certain behaviour and decisions more likely. As to personal values and social attitudes see, for example, Torgler (2006), Ruffle and Sosis (2007), Sieben and Halman (2014), and Pusztai (2016). Another area affected by religious persuasion is that of social and political values, as evidenced by Owen and Videras (2007), Lasinska (2013), Scheepers, Gijsberts and Hello (2002), Doebler (2014), and Glazier (2017). Religiosity also apparently influences consumption habits and choices through the value preferences as observed by Cohen-Zada and Sander (2011), Chai and Chen (2009), Coşgel and Minkler

(2004a, 2004b). Partly against these, however, are Schwadel (2002) or Bognár and Kmetty (2020).

Offerings and donations as well as volunteering are but a few typical example of religiously motivated prosocial behaviour as found by Reitsma, Scheepers and Te Grotenhuis (2006), Abreu (2016), van Tienen et al (2011), Son and Wilson (2012), Van Cappellen, Saroglou and Toth-Gauthier (2016). Some, however, questioned the existence of such a commonly proposed link, like Anderson and Mellor (2009), Anderson, Mellor and Milyo (2010) and Galen (2012). Myers (2012) and Saroglou (2012) convincingly opposed Galen's critiques.

A positive relationship between personal religious commitment and subjectively experienced well-being has been observed in multiple contexts, as Eger and Maridal (2015) concluded. Ellison (1991) already evidenced the direct effect of the strength of belief. Colón-Bacó (2010) observed that both happiness and life satisfaction were positively related to attendance and prayer, and added he that the importance of religion in one's everyday life measured by the frequency of prayer appeared to be such an important factor that in a regression model it even reduced the effect of the frequency of religious service attendance. However, as Voas and Day (2010), studying secular Christians (i.e. those having a confessional identity without religious commitment and practice) underline, the actual strength of religious persuasion, identity and practice should be differentiated and may have separately identifiable effect. Furthermore, as Finke, Bader and Polson (2010) argue, different religiosity items can be deemed as measures of different aspects of religiosity and thus, they actually provide a more accurate and reliable result when measured together at the same time.

However, contrary to these, Bechert (2013) identifies only weak, but mainly positive relationship between religiosity and happiness and suggests a minor importance of belief compared to practice. Van de Velde, Van der Bracht and Buffel (2017) found no effect of overall religious saliency on frequency of depressive symptoms, and they presented that depression was positively associated with religious salience in countries with lower religiosity. An ambiguous association was present between happiness and internal religiosity according to Steiner, Leinert and Frey (2010).

Ellison (1991) observed a denominational variation in life satisfaction but not in happiness. Ferriss (2002) also found that observing different traditions significantly correlated with general happiness, varying by denomination. Steiner, Leinert and Frey (2010) also pointed out that belonging to the Protestant denomination strongly and positively affected happiness. Ngamaba and Soni (2018) also supported the importance of religious denominations as they experienced a significant variation in the level of subjective well-being across religions, with Buddhist and Protestant respondents exhibiting the highest level of happiness and Roman Catholic, Protestant and Buddhist people the highest satisfaction with life. As to an effect in an opposite direction, Fenelon and Danielsen (2016) described that disaffiliation lead to lower level of subjective well-being and worse health.

For most traditional religions, a particular kind of personal devotion, most typically individual prayer, is among the central tenets; however, evidence for its effect on happiness appears to be more mixed. Ellison (1991), for example, suggested only an indirect effect of personal devotion on happiness. While, according to Ferriss (2002), prayer was not significantly correlated with general happiness, Colón-Bacó (2010) suggested that the frequency of prayer appeared to be such an important factor that in a regression model it even reduced the effect of the frequency of religious service attendance, whereas according to Van de Velde, Van der Bracht and Buffel (2017) concluded that depression was positively associated with frequency of prayer.

Provided that individual religiosity contributes to individual happiness, it can be assumed that more religious – and thus, happier – people in a given social context will positively impact the happiness of all members of that society. Clark and Lelkes (2009) have supported it, and diagnosed a spillover effect of religiosity. Furthermore, as is has been argued above, religious people tend to be more prosocial, and as a consequence, if more people are religious in a society, its positive consequence can be enjoyed by the non-religious members of that society, too. Stavrova and Siegers (2014) found that in societies where cultural norms enforced religiosity, religious orientation was higher related to prosocial behaviour. This effect proved to be stronger in countries where religiosity was more a matter of personal choice.

Moreover, some scholars suggest that not only religious persuasion, belief or any particular religious practice but also denominational belonging itself contribute to happiness of also those out of any confessional communities (see, for example, Bjørnskov, Dreher and Fischer, 2008). Furthermore, it can be assumed that if in a society a larger share of people belongs to a particular confession, it creates a value community that might influence society in a wider context (see Sagiv and Schwartz, 2001). A high presence of religion may take a form of having a higher share of religious people, that is, more religiously committed fellows in one's immediate social environment (like, e.g., family members; see Petts, 2014; Pusztai, 2016)

Another important aspect of religiosity is that of community, which in most of the traditional religions can be experienced obviously by participating in communally organised religious

occasions. Community membership and participation in activities of faith-based communities is an important dimension of individual religious practice (Brehm, Eisenhauer and Krannich, 2004). Ellison (1991) suggested only an indirect effect of participation on happiness. At the same time, Ferriss (2002), Greenfield and Marks (2007), Steiner, Leinert and Frey (2010), and VanderWeele (2017) too, found that churchgoing strongly and positively affected happiness. Helliwell and Putnam (2004) and Morrone, Tontoranelli and Ranuzzi (2009) have evidenced that among other measures of social ties, trust was related to happiness. Trust and religious community membership, by any means, are confirmed to be linked, even if the extent of this relationship is apparently conditional on denominational or sociocultural context. (Traunmüller, 2011; Tan and Vogel, 2008) A more frequent church attendance enhances trust as well (Schnabel and Groetsch, 2014).

A powerful effect of social relations on happiness is asserted by Lamu and Olsen (2016) and Diener and Seligman (2002, 2004). Helliwell and Putnam (2004) presented that measures of social relations including family, workmates, civil activity, religious and community ties, as well as trust were all robustly and independently related to happiness both directly and mediated through a better health status. Fenelon and Danielsen (2016) proved that disaffiliation lead to lower level of happiness through losing community contacts. Lim and Putnam (2010) also suggested that religious community affiliation significantly affected happiness, regardless of denominational differences. Significance of having close friends from the congregation was higher for those having a strong religious identity. Graham and Haidt (2010) suggests that religion binds individuals into tightly bound moral communities, thus promoting social giving, integrating them as being religious and protecting them from threats. Krause, Ironson and Hill (2018) added that higher frequency of attendance was associated with higher commitment, which, in turn, was associated with higher compassion, thus promoting helping others, which latter one was associated with happiness. At the same time, as Driskell, Lyon and Embry (2008) described, there was an apparent trade-off between religious and civic activity, which might turn the religiosity - well-being link somewhat ambiguous. Some scholars have also added that network and group processes, together with previous socialization influences, make the religious phaenomenon a matter of social status, too.

While assuming a robust effect of religiosity dimensions on subjective well-being, it should be taken into account that religiosity shows a variability across social groups defined by demographic and socioeconomic characteristics and by cultural contexts. These differences not only affect the shares of religious people in the groups examined may also influence how much religiosity in general is valued in a society and also the level of effect that religiosity bears on well-being.

Social status and demographic background are both evidenced in the literature to impact, and often to interplay with, personal religiosity. What is more, they can alter the effect of religion on subjective well-being. Variability of religiosity of diverse age groups is frequently observed. (Idler, Kasl and Hays, 2001; Hayward and Krause, 2013; Hegedűs, 2008; Wink and Dillon, 2002; Uecker, Regnerus and Vaaler, 2007) Voas (2015) described that many individuals fluctuated back and forth between the religious and non-religious categories, making thus the boundaries between them fuzzy. Paralleling that, as the results of a qualitative study on intergenerational change in religiosity in Hungarian context showed recently, life-course religious change, whether multidirectional or fluctuating, was more the norm than the exception. (Luxné Prehoda and Hámori, 2020) Moreover, the differing religiosity by gender is also commonly observed in a Wester and Christian context, even if the explanation of this is still not evident; Miller and Stark (2002), for example, did not find support for the popular hypothesis that different gender socialization was underlying the gender differences in religiosity.

Among others, Deaton (2008) and Lamu and Olsen (2016) emphasised the importance of the effect of health on happiness. At the same time, McCullough et al (2000), Hank and Schaan (2008), Koenig (2012), Levin and Chatters (1998), George, Ellison and Larson (2002) and Ellison and Levin (1998) concluded that religion has contributed to health. Some evidence, however, suggest that the link can be somewhat ambiguous (Ferraro and Albrecht-Jensen, 1991; Powell, Shahabi and Thoresen, 2003; Hall, Meador and Koenig, 2008; Son and Wilson, 2011; Janssen et al, 2005; Pargament and Mahoney, 2009; Ellison et al, 2009; Schwadel and Falci, 2012). A possible interaction between the effect of religiosity and health can also be present (Levin and Taylor, 1998). What is more, the religion—health link can affect also in the opposite causal direction (Benjamins et al, 2003).

Between-country variation in well-being (Tov and Diener, 2007; Fischer, 2010; Hritcu, 2015) can be explained by societal-level differences (Inglehart and Klingeman, 2000; Lengyel and Hegedűs, 2004; Easterlin, 2013; Stam, Verbakel and De Graaf, 2013; Burger et al, 2015; Spruk and Kešeljević, 2016; contrary to this, however, Brulé and Veenhoven, 2014). The strength of the relationship between religiosity and well-being apparently also shows such a variation (Kogan et al, 2013; Scheepers, Te Grotenhuis and Van Der Slik, 2002; Hayward and Elliott, 2014; Diener, Tay and Myers, 2011; Sabatier et al, 2011; Stavrova and Siegers, 2014).

Notably, Edling, Rydgren and Bohman (2014) observed in a Swedish context that in a country with low individual religiosity, religiousness did not count much. Diener, Tay and Myers (2011) concluded that all mayor religions contributed to the subjective well-being, but only in nations with high-level religiosity and low-level societal well-being. This latter proved to be a strong predictor of overall religiosity in a country. It seemed that religious affiliation contributed especially to the well-being of those experiencing hardships in life, while in highly developed countries with a higher level of overall well-being, respect, community attachment and purpose provided by religions elsewhere were attainable without organized religiosity. The level, the situation and the composition of religiosity also varies across countries (Pickel, 2011; Müller, 2011; Storm, 2009).

1.2. RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESES

In sum, the question to be answered is whether a robust relationship between various aspects of religiosity and happiness can be evidenced in the contemporary European society even if the differing social and cultural settings and individual socio-economic background are considered. This general research problem can be itemized through the following research questions that this paper is intended to answer:

Q1: What kind of relationship exists between personal religiosity and individual happiness?

Q2: What kind of relationship exists between societal level religiosity and individual happiness?

It should be also asked whether diverse aspects of individual and societal-level religiosity (being affiliated with denominational groups, religious practice and congregational belonging) make people happier than unchurched respondents and whether social background and social involvement are equally important for the happiness of religious and non-religious people. To answer these, multi-variate statistical method is applied including indicators of religious identity, religious behaviour, social status and social involvement. Based on the above-cited earlier research findings and theoretical considerations, I aim at testing the hypotheses as follows below.

1. Hypotheses about individual religiosity and happiness:

H1.1: The higher degree of religiosity contributes to happiness.

H1.2: The belonging to a religious denomination is associated with a higher level of happiness.

H1.3: The higher frequency of attending religious occasions brings a higher level of happiness.

H1.4: The higher frequency of individual prayer brings a higher level of happiness.

2. Hypotheses about societal religiosity and happiness:

H2.1: The higher average level of religiosity within a society is associated with a higher level of individual happiness.

H2.2: The higher rate of those belonging to a religious denomination within a society is associated with a higher level of individual happiness.

H2.3: The higher average societal frequency of church attendance contributes to a higher level of individual happiness.

H2.4: The higher average societal frequency of prayer contributes to a higher level of individual happiness.

3. Hypotheses about the impact of individual and societal background on the effect of religiosity on happiness:

H3.1: The positive effect of religiosity dimensions on happiness varies by one's gender, age, education, income and health as well as social network participation on the individual and societal level.

H3.2: The positive effect of religiosity dimensions on happiness time-invariantly varies in different country-level religious and economic contexts.

2. METHODS

2.1. ANALYTIC STRATEGY

The research is built on a multivariate secondary analysis of a cross-national longitudinal database including variables of contemporary European religiosity and well-being. As religion influences happiness both on the micro- and on the macro-level, it is justified to apply multilevel regression analysis. This method treats the clustering of cases and the resulting the lack of independence of observations more effectively, that is, the fact that that both the level of average religiosity and average happiness level are varied across countries and by time, producing a certain level of similarity between respondents within the same sample. Furthermore, multilevel approach is useful for a large number of clustering groups and a large case number within clusters. Finally, the main advantage is that in multilevel modelling, one does not have to assume that the observed relationships are the same across all groups of observation but these

can be specified as variable effects. To control for the effect of religion on happiness both on the micro- and on the macro-level, multilevel analysis is applied, among others, by Haller and Hadler (2006), Jagodzinski (2009), Okulicz-Kozaryn (2010, 2011, 2012), Stavrova, Fetchenhauer and Schlösser (2013), van Hoorn and Maseland (2013), Stam, Verbakel and De Graaf (2013), Hritcu (2015), and Van de Velde, Van der Bracht and Buffel (2017).

In the grouping of cases, I follow a method similar to that of Aarts et al (2010). That is, grouping variables are country and year of survey (i.e. year of respective ESS round). Data of individual respondents are nested within study (ESS round in studied country) and studies are nested within countries. Building a 3-level mixed model is to control both for time-variant and country-level effects. In building and evaluating the models, I rely on Peugh (2010) and Peugh and Enders (2005). As to the issue of why random-effect models instead of fixed-effect models are used, I follow the argumentation of Bell et al (2019), Bell and Jones (2014) and Snijders and Berkhof (2007). Analysis is conducted by the MIXED procedure of IBM SPSS (see West and Galecki, 2011).

After adding the primary independent variable to the baseline model, I enter the higher-level terms and further religiosity indicators as explanatory variables step-by-step. Through the subsequent models, individual level socio-demographic control variables are added to check whether religiosity remains a significant explanatory variable. Finally, other country-by-timeand country-level contextual variables are added to the model to see if religiosity measures still have a significant impact on subjective happiness. A similar systematic model building approach is applied similar to those by Scheepers, Te Grotenhuis, and Van Der Slik (2002) or Dolan, Peasgood and White (2008). This approach helps to test the interconnectedness of explanatory variables and thus, to understand better how they interact and how actually influence subjective well-being.

For the current research, cross-level interaction effects (i.e. the effect of national- or samplelevel characteristics on the nature or strength of the relationship between the individual-level outcome variable and predictors) are not of concern. Furthermore, to keep the models simple, I do not scrutinize interaction terms, as the individual direct effect of the key explanatory variables is in the focus of the research.

2.2. DATA AND VARIABLES

For the analysis, the aggregated database of the first seven waves of the European Social Survey (ESS) is used. The ESS measures the attitudes, beliefs and value patterns of diverse populations

in more than thirty nations. As this survey has been fielded in every 2 years since 2002, it provides a good basis for time series comparison. All consecutive waves of this cross-national longitudinal survey contain relevant information on religiosity and subjective well-being. A detailed overview of the design, contents and methodological underpinnings of the ESS can be found in Schnaudt et al, 2014 and Rydland, Arnesen and Ostensen, 2007. For this analysis, the pooled dataset of the first seven rounds are examined from 2002 to 2014. Altogether, 25 surveyed countries are included where data from at least four waves are available. Germany is included with separating the samples from the old and new federal states.

As the dependent variable, subjective well-being is measured by the response given to the question "How happy are you?". The variable is an 11-point scale scored between 0 and 10, 0 meaning "Not at all happy" and 10 "Very happy". As a key independent variable, the question "How religious are you" is used. The variable is a 11-point scale scored between 0 and 10, 0 meaning "Not at all religious" and 10 "Very religious".

I include other religiosity measures as control variables in more complex models to control for various aspects of personal religious practice beyond the degree of religiosity. Past and present denominational belonging is recorded in the ESS. For the current research, "Jewish", "Eastern religions" and "Other religions" in the original variable "Religion or denomination belonging to at present" have been merged as "other". An additional "Denominational belonging only in the past" category has been added, using the merged values from the variable "Religion or denomination belonging to in the past" concerning those not belonging to a church anymore at the time of being surveyed. Response categories of the variables "How often attend religious services apart from special occasions" and "How often pray apart from at religious services" have been transformed to time scales. That is, the original frequency categories used in the questionnaire (Every day; More than once a week; Once a week; At least once a month; Only on special holy days; Less often; Never) have been recalculated into a numeric variable approximating the number of days in a year practicing the respective religious activity.

In models that are more complex some key demographic background variables are controlled. These are gender (categorical variable with two values), age (calculated from year of survey and year of birth, weighted grand mean centred for multilevel analysis using post-stratification weight including design weight, pspweight), years in full-time education completed (weighted group-mean centred using pspweight), feelings about present household income (categorical variable with four values) and subjective health status (categorical variable with five values).

For measuring social capital, an indirect variable to control for social network embeddedness of respondents is added. This variable "How many days in a year meeting others socially" is calculated from the original "How often socially meet with friends, relatives or colleagues" transforming response categories to a time scale in a similar manner as presented above concerning variables of religious practice. Lastly, an 11-point scale variable "Most people can be trusted or you can't be too careful" has been used to control for generalised trust in people, an assumable accompaniment of religiosity as well as other social activities in order to control for a non-spiritual part of religious practice as a community activity.

Country context can interplay with the level of subjective well-being through either cultural traits or socioeconomic well-being as well as economic and institutional development. Moreover, it can influence the relationship of religion with subjective well-being through the religious context and denominational or religious composition within the country as well as the societal attitudes towards religion. Therefore, it is important to control for these national characteristics, which may also be variant with time. As to the economic and institutional context, GDP can be used as a reliable proxy of economic development in general. In order to prevent scaling problems, I use the real GDP per capita at purchasing power parity in a grandmean centred, standardized value.

As to the societal religious environment of respondents, I use the data calculated from the pooled dataset being analysed. Societal level average degree of individual religiosity, the share of belonging to a religious denomination in the respective country at the measured time point, the societal level average frequency of meeting others socially and the share of those attending religious occasions in the respective country at the measured time point are included in the final models testing higher level effects.

3. FINDINGS OF THE EMPIRICAL RESEARCH

3.1. MAIN RESULTS

My models verify the general hypothesis of a robust positive association between individual religiosity and subjective well-being, even if this effect is stronger in generally less happy nations and, at the same time, the effect of other well-evidenced correlates is also present. A total of 24 different models were significant and analysed thoroughly, the results of which are not detailed in the present synopsis to save space. It is important to highlight here that in model 3, a level-3 grouping is introduced, that is, national samples from various ESS rounds are

grouped by the countries themselves. This model is to test whether differences from countries show higher variability than longitudinal changes. To put it another way, it is tested if changes by time across Europe or the assumed relatively stable cross-country differences are more important. When differentiating both countries and countries by ESS rounds, the intraclass correlation (ICC) is 0,17 indicating that 17% of total variance results from country and time differences. The design effect is 298, which is much higher than the threshold value of 2 (following the argumentation of Peugh. 2010). This justifies the application of a multilevel model, as for a single level OLS regression model, the assumption for the independence of observations would be violated. Moreover, based on ICC = 0,136 it can be stated that approximately 14% of variation of mean happiness across samples is due to country differences.

After building a three-level multilevel model with random intercepts and random slopes with a possible interaction between them both on level 2 and level 3, throughout the more complex models, the following dimensions and indicators are entered in order:

- Individual level effect of religiosity dimensions
 - Denominational affiliation
 - o Attending religious services
 - Frequency of prayer
- Individual and societal-level demographic and economic background
 - Gender, age
 - o Educational attainment
 - o Household income
 - Subjective general health
 - Social capital
 - Trust
 - Frequency of meeting others
- Higher level effect of economic development
- Sample-level average religiosity
- Sample-level average frequency of participation in social networks
- Sample-level average frequency of participation in religious occasions
- Sample-level average frequency of individual prayer (not sig)
- Societal level participation in church religious occasions

An excerpt of the results of the final and most complete model is presented in *Table 1* below. As the social and cultural significance of religiosity varies by country, here, the effect of denominational identity is also allowed to be random at level 3. This model is much better fitted than any of the previous models are (AIC is 1034820,34 and –2LL is only 1034748,34 with a very highly significant –2LL change of 5672,3 compared to model 23 previously tested). As this final model makes it evident, religiosity dimensions all have a consistently significant effect even if the model is controlled for individual socio-economic factors and social network indicators.

Parameter			Estimate	Sig.
Degree of individual religi	ree of individual religiosity			***
	Romai	n Catholic	-0,040244	*
	Protes	tant	0,038416	
Religious affiliation (ref:	Easter	n Orthodox	-0,126423	***
not religious)	Other	Christian	-0,002903	
not tenglous)	Islam		-0,087284	**
	Jewish	a & Eastern religions	-0,156451	***
		ous in the past	-0,057633	***
	equency of attending religious occasions			** ***
Male				
Age of respondent (grand i	f respondent (grand mean centred)			
Years of full-time education	n comple	ted (group mean centred)	-0,002941	**
Feeling about household's income		Living comfortably	1,731011	***
(ref: Very difficult)	income	Coping	1,390369	***
(lef. very difficult)		Difficult	0,779589	***
		Very good	2,489116	***
Subjective general health (ref:		Good	2,044109	***
Very bad)		Fair	1,557958	***
		Bad	0,826442	***
Frequency of meeting othe	0,001245	***		
Trust in people	0,093688	***		
Gross Domestic Product, p	0,260357	***		
Sample-level average degr	0,132249	**		
Sample-level share of belo	-0,749952	**		
Sample-level average frequ	-0,003295	***		
Sample-level average frequ	0,012118	*		
Country-level variance in t	ountry-level variance in the effect of religious belonging			
Between-person difference	2,836932	***		
Level 2 intercept variance	0,016633	***		
Level 2 intercept+slope int	-0,000707	*		
Level 2 slope variance	0,000157	***		
Level 3 intercept variance	0,120348	**		
Level 3 intercept+slope int	-0,007118	**		
Level 3 slope variance	0,000654	**		

Table 1: Multilevel models – Effect of country-level religious and cultural context

Notation: * Wald sig. p < 0,05; ** Wald sig. p < 0,01; *** Wald sig. p < 0,001

I turn now to the research hypotheses and review the main findings relevant to these.

H1.1 verified: The higher degree of religiosity contributes to happiness.

The effect of the *degree of individual religiosity* proved to be weak, but consistent and significantly positive throughout all analysed models. The parameter estimate is 0,0568, suggesting an approximately 0,06 difference of respondents' mean happiness with one scale value increment on the 11-item scale scoring 0 for "not at all religious" to 10 for "very religious". That is, compared to the approximately 3,2 value of mean happiness for the completely irreligious people, the mean happiness of those at the opposite end of the scale can be estimated close to 3,8, all other variables controlling for individual and societal-level background and economic characteristics, religiosity and social capital held constant. This effect is robust, even if not completely independent of other religious dimensions: its observed effect somewhat raised when denominational affiliation and later the frequency of prayer were introduced in the models, and controlling for age, educational attainment and health further increased its apparent effect. Inclusion of trust, however, somewhat decreased its influence. This suggests the theoretical validity of the differentiation of various religiosity dimensions.

H1.2 falsified: The belonging to a religious denomination is associated with a higher level of happiness.

Contrary to some earlier research findings proposing a positive contribution of *denominational affiliation* to individual well-being, it turned out that affiliation – at least on the level of identification with a religious tradition – did not in itself enhanced happiness, when controlling for the strength of religious persuasion. Roman Catholic, Eastern Orthodox, Islam and Jewish affiliation as well as being associated with other minor and Eastern religions, all impacted individual happiness negatively. Almost down to the final model, *Protestant* affiliation was the only one that showed consistent positive association with higher happiness. However, this apparent positive effect was turned to insignificant at the 5% level by letting the effect of denominational belonging to be random on the country level. It can be concluded that it is not primarily the Protestant affiliation what matters in happiness, but belonging to a Protestant church in a country having a higher share of Protestant church members.

H1.3 verified: The higher frequency of attending religious occasions brings a higher level of happiness.

Regular church going significantly promoted happiness across all models. It is strange, however, that a part of this effect was supressed by individual prayer (see below); meaning that among those who pray more frequently, church attendance adds more to their happiness. This implies that formal participation in the rituals is not as effective as the more devout religious practice. Furthermore, its effect was somewhat weakened by the inclusion of indicators on socio-economic position, health and social capital.

H1.4 verified: The higher frequency of individual prayer brings a higher level of happiness.

Prayer in the simpler models apparently affected happiness in a negative way. Its effect was considerably weaker with age and years in education included, implying that older and undereducated people tended to pray more. With income controlled, however, the significance of its effect disappeared, and then with subjectively judged health status introduced, it turned positive. A clear implication of this observation is that those experiencing unfavourable life circumstances tend to pray more, but between two persons suffering from the same conditions, the one who prays more will be happier.

H2.1 ambiguous result: The higher average level of religiosity within a society is associated with a higher level of individual happiness.

H2.2 ambiguous result: The higher rate of those belonging to a religious denomination within a society is associated with a higher level of individual happiness.

Neither sample-level degree of religiosity, nor sample-level share of religious affiliation alone affected individual happiness significantly. However, when including both indicators simultaneously in the model, their effect was significant. The effect of the sample-level average degree of individual religiosity was significantly positive, whereas that of the share of population affiliated to a religious denomination was significantly negative. A plausible reason behind this is a weak, yet significant correlation between the two.

H2.3 verified: The higher average societal frequency of church attendance contributes to a higher level of individual happiness.

A positive impact of the higher sample-level average regular church going on individual happiness was found, independently from that of individual religious attendance. What is more

surprising is that the effect of the sample-level average frequency of church attendance is not significant, if it is included in the model without controlling for the average frequency of meeting others socially. The theoretical explanation that can be offered is that in a society where frequently meeting others socially is more a part of the mainstream culture, meetings in religious occasions also may serve as opportunities for seeing friends, thus these contribute also as do social events.

H2.4 falsified: The higher average societal frequency of prayer contributes to a higher level of individual happiness.

This hypothesis did not gain support by the models. As a matter in fact, within the model including sample-level average frequency of individual prayer, neither this nor the measure of sample-level average frequency religious attendance proved to be significant. Moreover, not even in the model without sample-level church attendance resulted in parameter estimates with a significant effect of sample-level prayer. Clearly, prayer is so much an intimate spiritual matter of religious behaviour that only the one who practices it will be profited.

H3.1 ambiguous results: The positive effect of religiosity dimensions on happiness varies by one's gender, age, education, income and health as well as social network participation on the individual and societal level.

A robust effect of most religiosity dimensions could be observed throughout the models, which remained significant even when controlling for socio-demographic background as well as social capital. The effects of the degree of religiosity and individual church attendance on happiness were rather consistent. However, the significance, the sign and the magnitude of other measures were somewhat more unstable. In particular, the positive impact of more frequent prayer was affected by one's income and health status, and the affiliation–happiness link was varied by individual income satisfaction and the country-level overall religious setting.

H3.2 verified: The positive effect of religiosity dimensions on happiness timeinvariantly varies in different country-level religious and economic contexts.

It was ascertained that the level of religiosity significantly differed by samples and by countries. Furthermore, even at the start of model building, a certain level of relative within-sample and within-country homogeneity of happiness level became observable. That the variation was caused by differing cultural and economic contexts was evidenced by the significant covariance parameters. Both the sample-level intercepts and the country-level intercepts were significantly varied, as well as the sample-level and country-level slopes representing the relationship between religiosity and happiness. In more complex models (after controlling for income and health on the individual level), a significant negative intercept-slope interaction was observed, meaning that the contribution of religiosity is assumedly lower, but still significant and positive, to happiness in samples and countries with a society consisting of happier people. What is more, a significant variation by the country-level share of religious people suggests that the country's religious culture indeed affects religion's contribution to individual happiness.

3.2. IMPLICATIONS

The findings of my research suggest that, despite the assumed decline in the role of religions in a contemporary European setting, religiosity still can significantly contribute to people's happiness by belief, commitment, participation, devotions and community attachment. This contribution can be statistically separated from that of similar, non-religious counterparts like, e.g., meaning in life gained from other sources, involvement in non-religious formal or informal communities, or even probably the participation in spiritual activities outside the church. Nevertheless, it is not formal membership that counts; rather, affiliation with certain religious traditions in some settings may become a marker of disadvantageous life circumstances. Individual religious practice including regular church attendance and frequent prayer, however, can positively impact one's subjective well-being. Interestingly, religious commitment raises happiness significantly without actual practice, even if the effect is smaller in happier or more well-to do nations.

The highly raised scientific interest in happiness and well-being studies, especially since the turn of the millennium, indicates the growing need within democratic societies to understand what kind of social factors influence happiness, well-being and life-satisfaction. This research has made it clearer whether it is worth to promote religiosity by policy measures, e.g., through state subsidizing or regulating religious education. A rather simple policy implication is that subsidizing traditional formal churches will not necessarily make people happier; however, if this support ultimately reaches those with the most severe needs, it might contribute to the welfare of all. Health and financial satisfaction apparently counts more, and thus, it can be proposed that religion does not seem to work as "people's opium" anymore.

4. REFERENCES

- Aarts, O., Te Grotenhuis, M., Need, A. and De Graaf, N. D. (2010): Does Duration of Deregulated Religious Markets Affect Church Attendance? Evidence from 26 Religious Markets in Europe and North America Between 1981 and 2006. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 49(4), pp. 657-672. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2010.01535.x
- Abreu, M. (2016): Nonprofit Marketing: A European Perspective on Donations and Religiousness. In: Plangger, K. (ed.): *Thriving in a New World Economy*. Developments in Marketing Science: Proceedings of the Academy of Marketing Science. Springer, Cham pp. 347-356. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24148-7_106
- Affrime, J. (2011): A study in religious worldview and subjective well-being. Theses and Dissertations. Paper 66. Thesis Submitted to the Department of Psychology, College of Liberal Arts and Sciences, Rowan University, August 31, 2011
- Anderson, L. R. and Mellor, J. M. (2009): Religion and cooperation in a public goods experiment. *Economics Letters*, 105 pp. 58-60.
- Anderson, L., Mellor, J. and Milyo, J. (2010): Did the Devil Make Them Do It? The Effects of Religion in Public Goods and Trust Games. *Kyklos*, 63(2), pp. 163-175. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6435.2010.00456.x
- Ardelt, M. (2003): Effects of Religion and Purpose in Life on Elders Subjective Well-Being and Attitudes Toward Death. *Journal of Religious Gerontology*, 14(4), pp. 55-77. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1300/J078v14n04_04
- Argyle, M. and Hills, P. (2000): Religious Experiences and Their Relations With Happiness and Personality. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 10(3), pp. 157-172. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327582IJPR1003_02
- Azzi, C. and Ehrenberg, R., (1975): Household allocation of time and church attendance. *Journal of Political Economy*, 83, pp. 27-56. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/260305
- Bechert, I. (2013): Are Religious People Happier than Non-Religious People? In: Bechert I. and Quandt, M. (eds.):
 ISSP Data Report: Religious Attitudes and Religious Change, GESIS Series Volume 13, Köln: GESIS –
 Leibniz Institute for the Social Sciences, pp. 59-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21241/ssoar.37204
- Beard, T. R., Ekelund, R. B. Jr., Ford, G. S. and Tollison, R. D. (2011): Self-Protection, Insurance and Religious Choice, Manuscript, Auburn University, Auburn, AL
- Bell, A., Fairbrother, M. and Jones, K. (2019): Fixed and random effects models: making an informed choice, *Quality & Quantity*, 53, pp. 1051-1074 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-018-0802-x
- Bell, A. and Jones, K. (2014): Explaining Fixed Effects: Random Effects Modeling of Time-Series Cross-Sectional and Panel Data, *Political Science Research and Methods*, 3(1), 133-153. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2014.7
- Benjamins, M. R., Musick, M. A., Gold, D. T. and George, L. K. (2003): Age-Related Declines in Activity Level: The Relationship Between Chronic Illness and Religious Activities. *Journal of Gerontology: SOCIAL* SCIENCES, 58(6), pp. 377-385. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.6.S377
- Bjørnskov, C., Dreher, A. and Fischer, J. A. V. (2008): Cross-country determinants of life satisfaction: exploring different determinants across groups in society, *Social Choice and Welfare*, 30, pp. 119-173. DOI https://doi.org/10.1007/s00355-007-0225-4
- Bognár, B. and Kmetty, Z. (2020): Believing without moralising: Secularised religiousness in Hungary. *Social Compass*, 67(4), pp. 576-598. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0037768620949064
- Bradshaw, M. and Ellison, C. G. (2010): Financial hardship and psychological distress: Exploring the buffering effects of religion. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(1), pp. 196-204. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.03.015
- Bradshaw, M., Ellison, C. G. and Marcum, J. P. (2010): Attachment to God, Images of God, and Psychological Distress in a Nationwide Sample of Presbyterians. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 20(2), pp. 130-147. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10508611003608049.
- Brehm, J. M., Eisenhauer, B. W. and Krannich, R. S. (2004): Dimensions of Community Attachment and Their Relationship to Well-Being in the Amenity-Rich Rural West. *Rural Sociology*, 69(3), pp. 405-429. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1526/0036011041730545

- Bruce, A. J., Menefee, M. R., Kordinak, S. T. and Harman, M. J. (2005): Religious Pluralism, Religious Activity and Religious Coping. *American Journal of Psychological Research*, 1(1), pp. 71-78.
- Brulé, G. and Veenhoven R. (2014): Freedom and happiness in nations: why the Finns are happier than the French. *Psychology of Well-Being: Theory, Research and Practice*, 4(17), DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13612-014-0017-4
- Burger, M., Veenhoven, R., Kakar, L. and Commandeur, H. (2015): Genetic distance and differences in happiness across nations: Some preliminary evidence. *The Journal of Happiness & Well-Being*, 3(2), pp. 142-158.
- Chai, L. T. and Chen, T. B. (2009): Religiosity As An Antecedent Of Attitude Towards Green Products: An Exploratory Research On Young Malaysian Consumers. *ASEAN Marketing Journal*, 1(1), pp. 29-36.
- Clark, A. and Lelkes, O. (2006): Deliver us from evil: Religion as insurance. Papers on Economics of Religion, 06/03. Downloaded from http://www.ugr.es/~teoriahe/RePEc/gra/paoner/per06_03.pdf (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- Clark, A. and Lelkes, O. (2009): Let us pray: religious interactions in life satisfaction. PSE Working Papers from HAL. Downloaded from http://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/docs/00/56/61/20/PDF/wp200901.pdf (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- Cohen, A. B. and Johnson, K. A. (2017): Religion and Well-being, *Applied Research Quality Life*, 12, pp. 533-547. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-016-9475-6
- Cohen-Zada, D. and Sander, W. (2011): Religious Participation versus Shopping: What Makes People Happier? *The Journal of Law & Economics*, 54(4), pp. 889-906. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/658862
- Colón-Bacó, E. (2010): The Strength of Religious Beliefs is Important for Subjective Well-Being. *Undergraduate Economic Review*, 6(1), Article 11, available at: http://digitalcommons.iwu.edu/uer/vol6/iss1/11 (Accessed 12 December 2021)
- Cosgel, M. M. and Minkler, L. (2004a): Rationality, integrity, and religious behaviour. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 33, pp. 329-341.
- Coşgel, M. M. and Minkler, L. (2004b): Religious Identity and Consumption. *Review of Social Economy*, 62(3), pp. 339-350. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/0034676042000253945
- Davis, N. J. and Robinson R. V. (2001): Theological Modernism, Cultural Libertarianism and Laissez-Faire Economics in Contemporary European Societies. *Sociology of Religion*, 62(1), pp. 23-50. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3712229
- Darnell, A. and Sherkat, D. E. (1997): The Impact of Protestant Fundamentalism on Educational Attainment. *American Sociological Review*, 62(2), pp. 306-315.
- Deaton, A. (2008): Income, Health, and Well-Being around the World: Evidence from the Gallup World Poll. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 22(2), pp. 53-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.22.2.53
- Dehejia, R., DeLeire, T. and Luttmer, E. F.P. (2007): Insuring consumption and happiness through religious organizations. *Journal of Public Economics*, 91(1-2), pp. 259-279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2006.05.004
- Diener, E. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2002): Very Happy People. *Psychological Science*, 13(1), pp. 81-84. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00415
- Diener, E. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2004): Beyond Money: Toward an Economy of Well-Being. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 5(1), pp. 1-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00501001.x
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E. and Smith, H. L. (1999): Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125(2), pp. 276-302. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.276
- Diener, E., Tay, L. and Myers, D. G. (2011): The Religion Paradox: If Religion Makes People Happy, Why Are So Many Dropping Out? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, pp. 101. 1278-1290. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024402
- Doebler, S. (2014): Relationships Between Religion and Intolerance Towards Muslims and Immigrants in Europe: A Multilevel Analysis, *Review of Religious Research*, 56(1), pp. 61-86. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13644-013-0126-1
- Dolan, P., Peasgood, T. and White, M. (2008): Do we really know what makes us happy? A review of the economic literature on the factors associated with subjective well-being. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29, pp. 94-122. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2007.09.001

- Driskell, R. L., Lyon, L. and Embry, E. (2008): Civic Engagement and Religious Activities: Examining the Influence of Religious Tradition and Participation. *Sociological Spectrum*, 28, pp. 578-601. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/02732170802206229
- Easterlin, R. A. (2013): Happiness, growth, and public policy. *Economic Inquiry*, 51(1), pp. 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2012.00505.x
- Edling, C., Rydgren, J. and Bohman, L. (2014): Faith or Social Foci? Happiness, Religion, and Social Networks in Sweden. *European Sociological Review*, 30(5), pp. 615-626. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcu062
- Eger, R. J. and Maridal, J. H., (2015): A statistical meta-analysis of the wellbeing literature. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 5(2), pp. 45-74. doi:10.5502/ijw.v5i2.4
- Ellison, C. G. (1991): Religious Involvement and Subjective Well-Being. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 32(1), pp. 80-99. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/2136801
- Ellison, C. G., Fang, Q., Flannelly, K. J. and Steckler, R. A. (2013): Spiritual Struggles and Mental Health: Exploring the Moderating Effects of Religious Identity. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 23(3), pp. 214-229. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10508619.2012.759868
- Ellison, C. G. and Levin, J. S. (1998): The Religion-Health Connection: Evidence, Theory, and Future Directions. *Health Education & Behavior*, 25(6), pp. 700-720. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/109019819802500603
- Ellison, C. G., Zhang, W., Krause, N. and Marcum, J. P. (2009): Does Negative Interaction in the Church Increase Depression? Longitudinal Findings from the Presbyterian Panel Survey. *Sociology of Religion*, 70(4), pp. 409-431. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/socrel/srp062
- Fenelon, A. and Danielsen, S. (2016): Leaving my religion: Understanding the relationship between religious disaffiliation, health, and well-being. *Social Science Research*, 57, pp. 49-62. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.01.007
- Ferraro, K. F. and Albrecht-Jensen, C. M. (1991): Does Religion Influence Adult Health? *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 30(2), pp. 193-202. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/1387213
- Ferriss, A. L. (2002): Religion and the Quality of Life. *Journal of Happiness Studies* 3, pp. 199-215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020684404438
- Fidrmuc, J. and Tunalı, Ç. B. (2015): Happiness and Religion. Paper presented at Slovak Economic Association Meeting in Kosice, October 2-3, 2015. Working Paper, Uxbridge, ZDB-ID 2257340-9. - Vol. 15-20, DOI: https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1695.9845
- Finke, R., Bader, C. D. and Polson, E. C. (2010): Faithful Measures: Developing Improved Measures of Religion. ARDA Guiding Paper Series. State College, PA: The Association of Religion Data Archives. Downloaded from http://www.thearda.com/rrh/papers/guidingpapers/finke.asp (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- Fischer, J. A. V. (2010): Accounting for unobserved country heterogeneity in happiness research: Country fixed effects versus region fixed effects. MPRA Paper No. 22272. University Library of Munich, Germany. Downloaded from https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/22272/ (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- Fisher, J. (2013): Relating with God Contributes to Variance in Happiness, over that from Personality and Age. *Religions*, 4(3), pp. 313-324. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/rel4030313
- Francis, L. (2011): Religion and happiness: Perspectives from the psychology of religion, positive psychology and empirical theology. In: Atherton, J., Graham, E. and Steedman, I. (eds.): *The Practices of Happiness: Political economy, religion and wellbeing*. London – New York: Routledge, pp. 113-124. DOI: http://doi.org/10.4324/9780203846902
- Francis, L. J., Jewell, A. and Robbins, M. (2010): The relationship between religious orientation, personality, and purpose in life among an older Methodist sample. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 13(7-8), pp. 777-791. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13674670802360907
- Francis, L. J. Ziebertz, H-G. and Lewis, C. A. (2003): The Relationship Between Religion and Happiness Among German Students. *Pastoral Psychology*, 51(4), pp. 273-281. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022529231234
- Galen, L. W. (2012): Does Religious Belief Promote Prosociality? A Critical Examination. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(5), pp. 876-906. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028251
- George, L. K., Ellison, C. G. and Larson, D. B. (2002): Explaining the Relationships Between Religious Involvement and Health. *Psychological Inquiry*, 13(3), pp. 190-200. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1303_04

- Glaeser, E. L. and Sacerdote, B. I. (2008): Education and Religion. *Journal of Human Capital*, 2(2), pp. 188-215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/590413
- Glazier, R. A. (2017): Providentiality: A New Measure of Religious Belief. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research* on Religion, 13(3), pp. 1-26.
- Greenfield, E. A. and Marks, N. F. (2007): Religious Social Identity as an Explanatory Factor for Associations Between More Frequent Formal Religious Participation and Psychological Well-Being. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 17(3), pp. 245-259. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1080/10508610701402300
- Graham, C. and Crown, S. (2014): Religion and wellbeing around the world: Social purpose, social time, or social insurance? *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 4(1), pp. 1-27. DOI: http://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v4i1.14
- Graham, J. and Haidt, J. (2010): Beyond Beliefs: Religions Bind Individuals Into Moral Communities. *Personality* and Social Psychology Review, 14, pp. 140-150. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1177/1088868309353415
- Grouden, M. E. and Jose, P. E. (2015): Do sources of meaning differentially predict search for meaning, presence of meaning and wellbeing? *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 5(1), 33-52. DOI: http://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v5i1.3
- Gundlach, E. and Opfinger, M. (2013): Religiosity as a determinant of happiness. *Review of Development Economics*, 17(3), pp. 523-539. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.12047
- Gyorgyovich, M. and Pillók, P. (2014): A vallásos fiatalok társadalmi státuszának változása. *Vigilia*, 79(9), pp. 650-660.
- Hadaway, C. K. (1978): Life Satisfaction and Religion: A Reanalysis. *Social Forces*, 57(2), pp. 636-643. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/2577686
- Halama, P., Martos, T. and Adamovová, L. (2010): Religiosity and Well-Being in Slovak and Hungarian Student Samples: The Role of Personality Traits. *Studia Psychologica*, 52, pp. 101-115.
- Hall, D. E., Meador, K. G. and Koenig, H. G. (2008): Measuring Religiousness in Health Research: Review and Critique. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 47(2), pp. 134-163. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-008-9165-2
- Haller, M. and Hadler, M. (2006): How Social Relations and Structures Can Produce Happiness and Unhappiness: An International Comparative Analysis. *Social Indicators Research*, 75(2), pp. 169-216. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-004-6297-y
- Hank, K. and Schaan, B. (2008): Cross-National Variations in the Correlation Between Frequency of Prayer and Health Among Older Europeans. *Research on Aging*, 30(1), pp. 36-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027507307923
- Hayward, R. D. and Elliott, M. (2014): Cross-National Analysis of the Influence of Cultural Norms and Government Restrictions on the Relationship Between Religion and Well-Being. *Review of Religious Research*, 56(1), pp. 23-43. DOI https://doi.org/10.1007/s13644-013-0135-0
- Hayward, R. D. and Krause, N. (2013): Patterns of Change in Prayer Activity, Expectancies, and Contents during Older Adulthood. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 52(1), pp. 17-34. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12014
- Headey, B., Schupp, J., Tucci, I. and Wagner, G. G. (2010): Authentic happiness theory supported by impact of religion on life satisfaction: A longitudinal analysis with data for Germany. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5(1), pp. 73-82. DOI: https://10.1080/17439760903435232
- Hegedűs, R. (2001): A vallásosság a társadalomban. Századvég, 6(21), pp. 51-68.
- Hegedűs, R. (2008): A vallási változás: társadalmi trend és egyéni életciklus. In: Kolosi, T. and Tóth, I. Gy. (eds.): Újratervezés: Életutak és alkalmazkodás a rendszerváltás évtizedeiben. Kutatási jelentés a "Háztartások életút vizsgálata" (HÉV) alapján. Budapest: Tárki, pp. 159-169.
- Helliwell, J. F. and Putnam, R. D. (2004): The social context of well-being. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London—Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), pp. 1435-1446. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1522
- Hoverd, W. J. and Sibley, C. G. (2013): Religion, deprivation and subjective wellbeing: Testing a religious buffering hypothesis. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 3(2), pp. 182-196. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v3i2.5
- Hritcu, R. O. S. (2015): A multilevel analysis of life satisfaction in Central and Eastern Europe. Procedia Economics and Finance 20, pp. 289-300. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00077-5

- Hui, C. H., Lau, W. W. F., Cheung, S-H., Cheung, S-F., Lau, E. Y. Y. and Lam, J. (2014): Predictors and Outcomes of Experiences Deemed Religious: A Longitudinal Investigation. *The International Journal for the Psychology* of Religion, 25(2), pp. 107-129. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10508619.2014.916588
- Hungerman, D. M. (2014): The effect of education on religion: Evidence from compulsory schooling laws. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 104, pp. 52-63. DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2013.09.004
- Idler, E. L., Kasl, S. V. and Hays, J. C. (2001): Patterns of Religious Practice and Belief in the Last Year of Life. *Journal of Gerontology: Social Sciences*, 56B(6), pp. S326-S334, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/56.6.s326
- Inglehart, R. and Klingemann, H.-D. (2000): Genes, culture, democracy, and happiness. In: Diener, E. and Suh, E. M. (eds.): *Culture and subjective well-being*. Cambridge, MA, US: The MIT Press, pp. 165-183.
- Jagodzinski, W. (2009): The impact of religion on values and behaviour. *Kwansei Gakuin University School of Sociology Journal*, 107, pp. 19-34.
- Janssen, F., Bänziger, S., Dezutter, J. and Hutsebaut, D. (2005): Religion and mental Health: Aspects of the Relation Between Religious Measures and Positive and Negative Mental Health. Archiv für Religionspsychologie / Archive for the Psychology of Religion, 27, pp. 19-44.
- Keister, L. A. (2003): Religion and Wealth: The Role of Religious Affiliation and Participation in Early Adult Asset Accumulation. Social Forces, 82(1), pp. 173-205. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2003.0094
- Keister, L. A. (2008): Conservative Protestants and Wealth: How Religion Perpetuates Asset Poverty. American Journal of Sociology, 113(5), pp. 1237-1271. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/525506
- Kennedy, J. E. (1999): Religious Guilt and Fear, Well-Being, and Fundamentalism. Manuscript downloaded from http://jeksite.org/research/bv.pdf (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- Koenig, H. G. (2012): Religion, Spirituality, and Health: The Research and Clinical Implications. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, Volume 2012, Article ID 278730, DOI: https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/278730
- Kogan, A., Sasaki, J., Zou, C., Kim, H. and Cheng, C. (2013): Uncertainty Avoidance Moderates the Link between Faith and Subjective Well-being Around the World. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 8(3), pp. 242-248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2013.781207
- Krause, N., Ironson, G. and Hill, P. (2018): Religious involvement and happiness: Assessing the mediating role of compassion and helping others. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 158(2), pp. 256-270. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2017.1331992
- Lamu, A. N. and Olsen, J. A. (2016): The relative importance of health, income and social relations for subjective well-being: An integrative analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 152, pp. 176-185. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.01.046
- Lasinska, K. (2013): Religion and Democratisation: Eastern Europe in Comparative Perspective, Paper prepared for delivery at the 7th ECPR General Conference, Science Po, Bordeaux, 4-7 September 2013
- Lelkes, O. (2002): Tasting freedom: Happiness, religion and economic transition. *Journal of Economic Behavior* and Organization, 59(2), pp. 173-194.
- Lengyel, Gy. and Hegedűs, R. (2004): A szubjektív jólét objektív tényezői nemzetközi összehasonlításban. In: Helmich, D. and Szántó, Z. (eds.): *Módszertan, gazdaság, társadalom: In memoriam Bertalan László*. Budapest, Közgazdasági Szemle Alapítvány, pp. 401-417.
- Levin, J. S. and Chatters, L. M. (1998): Religion, health, and psychological well-being in older adults: findings from three national surveys. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 10(4), pp. 504-31. DOI: 10.1177/089826439801000406
- Levin, J. S. and Taylor, R. J. (1998): Panel Analyses of Religious Involvement and Well-Being in African Americans: Contemporaneous vs. Longitudinal Effects. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 37(4), pp. 695-709. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/1388151
- Lim, C. and Putnam, R. D. (2010): Religion, Social Networks, and Life Satisfaction. American Sociological Review, 75(6), pp. 914-933. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122410386686
- Lipford, J. W. and Tollison, R. D. (2003): Religious participation and income. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 51(2), pp. 249-260. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2681(02)00096-3
- Luxné Prehoda, A. and Hámori, Á. (2020): Igaz, hogy az idősebbek vallásosabbak? A vallásosság életúton belüli változása. *Socio.hu*, (10)1, pp. 25-44. DOI: https://www.doi.org/10.18030/socio.hu.2020.1.25

- Malka, A. and Chatman, J. A. (2003): Intrinsic and Extrinsic Work Orientations as Moderators of the Effect of Annual Income on Subjective Well-Being: A Longitudinal Study. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(6), pp. 737-746. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167203252867
- Martos, T., Kézdy, A. and Horváth-Szabó, K. (2011): Religious motivations for everyday goals: their religious context and potential consequences, *Motivation and Emotion*, 35, pp. 75-88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-010-9198-1
- Martos, T. and Kopp, M. (2012): Life Goals and Well-Being: Does Financial Status Matter? Evidence from a Representative Hungarian Sample. *Social Indicators Research*, 105(3), pp. 561-568. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9788-7
- McCullough, M. E., Hoyt, W. T., Larson, D. B., Koenig, H. G. and Thoresen, C. (2000): Religious Involvement and Mortality: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Health Psychology*, 19(3), pp. 211-222. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.19.3.211
- McCullough, M. E. and Worthington, E. L. Jr. (1999): Religion and the Forgiving Personality. *Journal of Personality*, 67(6), pp. 1141-1164. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00085
- Miller, A. S. and Stark, R. (2002): Gender and Religiousness: Can Socialization Explanations Be Saved? American Journal of Sociology, 107(6), pp. 1399-1423. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/342557
- Mochon, D., Norton, M. I. and Ariely, D. (2011): Who Benefits from Religion? *Social Indicators Research*, 101, pp. 1-15. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9637-0
- Monnot C. and Stolz J., (2016): Distancing from religion, religious pluralization and wellbeing. In: Bühlmann F., Ehrler F., Farago P., Höpflinger F., Joye D., Perrig-Chiello P. and Suter C. (eds.): *Swiss Social Report 2016*: *Wellbeing*, Zurich: Seismo. pp. 18-35.
- Morrone, A., Tontoranelli, N. and Ranuzzi, G. (2009): How Good is Trust? Measuring Trust and its Role for the Progress of Societies. *OECD Statistics Working Papers*, 2009/03, OECD Publishing. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/220633873086
- Müller, O. (2011): Secularization, Individualization, or (Re)vitalization? The State and Development of Churchliness and Religiosity in Post-Communist Central and Eastern Europe. *Religion and Society in Central and Eastern Europe*, 4(1), pp. 21-37.
- Myers, D. G. (2008): Religion and human flourishing. In: Eid, M. and Larsen, R. J. (eds.): *The science of subjective wellbeing*. New York, NY: Guilford, pp. 323-346.
- Myers, D. G. (2012): Reflections on Religious Belief and Prosociality: Comment on Galen. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(5), pp. 913-917. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029009
- Ngamaba, K. H. and Soni, D. (2018): Are Happiness and Life Satisfaction Different Across Religious Groups? Exploring Determinants of Happiness and Life Satisfaction. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 57(6), pp. 2118-2139. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-017-0481-2
- Oishi, S., Diener, E. F., Lucas, R. E. and Suh, E. M. (1999): Cross-Cultural Variations in Predictors of Life Satisfaction: Perspectives From Needs and Values. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(8), pp. 980-990. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672992511006
- Oishi, S., Diener, E., Suh, E. and Lucas, R. E. (1999): Value as a Moderator in Subjective Well-Being. *Journal of Personality*, 67(1), pp. 157-184. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00051
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2010): Religiosity and life satisfaction across nations. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 13(2), pp. 155-169. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13674670903273801
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2011): Does religious diversity make us unhappy? *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 14(10), pp. 1063-1076. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2010.550277
- Okulicz-Kozaryn, A. (2012): Income and Well-being Across European Provinces. *Social Indicators Research*, 106(2), pp. 371-392. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-01 1-9812-y
- Owen, A. L. and Videras, J. R. (2007): Culture and public goods: The case of religion and the voluntary provision of environmental quality. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 54 (2), pp. 162-180. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2007.04.001
- Pargament, K. I. and Mahoney, A. (2005): THEORY: "Sacred Matters: Sanctification as a Vital Topic for the Psychology of Religion". *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 15(3), pp. 179-198. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327582ijpr1503_1

- Petts, R. J. (2014): Family, Religious Attendance, and Trajectories of Psychological Well-Being Among Youth. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(6), pp. 759-768. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036892
- Peugh, J. (2010): A practical guide to multilevel modelling. *Journal of School Psychology*, 48, pp. 85-112. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2009.09.002
- Peugh, J. L. and Enders, C. K. (2005): Using the SPSS Mixed Procedure to Fit Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Multilevel Models. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 65(5), pp. 717-741. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164405278558
- Pickel, G. (2011): Contextual Secularization. Theoretical Thoughts and Empirical Implications. *Religion and Society in Central and Eastern Europe*, 4(1), pp. 3-20.
- Powell, L. H., Shahabi, L. and Thoresen, C. E. (2003): Religion and Spirituality: Linkages to Physical Health. *American Psychologist*, 58(1), pp. 36-52. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.58.1.36
- Pusztai, G. (2016): A szülők vallásossága mint a hatékony gyermeknevelés tőkeforrása. In: Földvári, M. and Hakkel, T. (eds.): *Riport a családokról*. A Család-, Ifjúság- és Népesedéspolitikai Intézet kutatási eredményei 2015. Budapest: Család-, Ifjúság- és Népesedéspolitikai Intézet, L'Harmattan Kiadó, pp. 424-444.
- Reitsma, J., Scheepers, P. and Te Grotenhuis, M. (2006): Dimensions of Individual Religiosity and Charity: Cross-National Effect Differences in European Countries? *Review of Religious Research*, 47(4), 347-362.
- Ross, K., Handal, P. J., Clark, E. M. and Vander Wal, J. S. (2009): The Relationship Between Religion and Religious Coping: Religious Coping as a Moderator Between Religion and Adjustment. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 48(4), pp. 454-467. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-008-9199-5
- Rosta, G. (2007): Ifjúság és vallás 2004. Új Ifjúsági Szemle, 2007 tavasz, pp. 39-47.
- Rosta, G. (2011): Vallásosság a mai Magyarországon. Vigilia, 76, pp. 741-750.
- Ruffle, B. J. and Sosis R. (2007): Does it Pay to Pray? Costly Ritual and Cooperation. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 7(1), Article 18. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2202/1935-1682.1629
- Rydland, L. O., Arnesen, S. and Ostensen, A. G. (2007): *Contextual data for the European Social Survey*: An overview and assessment of extant sources. Bergen: Norwegian Social Science Data Services.
- Sabatier, C., Mayer, B., Friedlmeier, M., Lubiewska, K. and Trommsdorff, G. (2011): Religiosity, Family Orientation, and Life Satisfaction of Adolescents in Four Countries. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 42(8), pp. 1375-1393. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022111412343
- Sagiv, L. and Schwartz, S. H. (2000): Value priorities and subjective well-being: direct relations and congruity effects. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 30, pp. 177-198. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-0992(200003/04)30:2<177::AID-EJSP982>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Sander, W. (2002): Religion and human capital. *Economics Letters*, 75, pp. 303-307. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-1765(02)00011-3
- Saroglou, V. (2012): Is religion not prosocial at all? Comment on Galen (2012). *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(5), pp. 907-912. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028927
- Scheepers, P., Gijsberts, M. and Hello, E. (2002): Religiosity and Prejudice against Ethnic Minorities in Europe: Cross-National Tests on a Controversial Relationship. *Review of Religious Research*, 43(3), pp. 242-265. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3512331
- Scheepers, P., Te Grotenhuis, M. and Van Der Slik, F. (2002): Education, Religiosity and Moral Attitudes: Explaining Cross-National Effect Differences. *Sociology of Religion*, 63(2), pp. 157-176. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3712563
- Schieman, S. (2010): Socioeconomic Status and Beliefs about God's Influence in Everyday Life. Sociology of Religion, 71(1), pp. 25-51. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/socrel/srq004
- Schnabel, A. and Groetsch, F. (2014): In God we trust: the role of religion for cohesion and integration in current European societies. *European Journal of Cultural and Political Sociology*, 1(4), pp. 375-398. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/23254823.2015.1057752
- Schnaudt, C., Weinhardt, M., Fitzgerald, R. and Liebig, S. (2014): The European Social Survey: Contents, Design, and Research Potential, *Schmollers Jahrbuch*, 134, Berlin: Duncker & Humblot, pp. 487-506. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3790/schm.134.4.487
- Schuurmans-Stekhoven, J. B. (2011): Is it God or Just the Data that Moves in Mysterious Ways? How Well-Being Research maybe Mistaking Faith for Virtue. *Social Indicators Research*, 100(2), pp. 313-330. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/sl1205-010-9630-7

- Schwadel, P. (2002): Testing the Promise of the Churches: Income Inequality in the Opportunity to Learn Civic Skills in Christian Congregations. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 41(3), pp. 565-575. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5906.00137
- Schwadel, P. and Falci, C. D. (2012): Interactive Effects of Church Attendance and Religious Tradition on Depressive Symptoms and Positive Affect. *Society and Mental Health*, 2(1), pp. 21-34. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869312442885
- Sherkat, D. E. (2008): Beyond Belief: Atheism, Agnosticism, and Theistic Certainty in the United States. *Sociological Spectrum*, 28(5), pp. 438-459. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/02732170802205932
- Sherkat, D. E. and Darnell, A. (1999): The Effect of Parents' Fundamentalism on Children's Educational Attainment: Examining Differences by Gender and Children's Fundamentalism. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 38(1), pp. 23-35. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/1387581
- Sherkat, D. E. and Ellison, C. G. (1999): Recent Developments and Current Controversies in the Sociology of Religion. Annual Review of Sociology, 25, pp. 363-394. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.25.1.363
- Sieben, I. and Halman, L. (2014): Religion and parental values in a secularized country: Evidence from the Netherlands. *Social Compass*, 61(1), pp. 121-140. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0037768613513946
- Sillick, W. J., Stevens, B. A. and Cathcart, S. (2016): Religiosity and happiness: A comparison of the happiness levels between the religious and the nonreligious. *The Journal of Happiness & Well-Being*, 4(1), pp. 115-127.
- Snijders, T. A. B. and Berkhof, J. (2007): Diagnostic Checks for Multilevel Models. In: de Leeuw, J. and Meijer,
 E. (eds.): *Handbook of Multilevel Analysis*, New York: Springer, pp. 141-175. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73186-5_3
- Snoep, L. (2008): Religiousness and happiness in three nations: a research note. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9, pp. 207-211. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-007-9045-6
- Son, J. and Wilson, J. (2011): Religiosity, Psychological Resources, and Physical Health. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 50(3), pp. 588-603. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2011.01588.x
- Son, J. and Wilson, J. (2012): Using Normative Theory to Explain the Effect of Religion and Education on Volunteering. *Sociological Perspectives*, 55(3), pp. 473-499. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1525/sop.2012.55.3.473.
- Spenkuch, J. L. (2017): Religion and work: Micro evidence from contemporary Germany. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 135(C), pp. 193-214. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2017.01.011
- Spruk, R. and Kešeljević, A. (2016): Institutional Origins of Subjective Well-Being: Estimating the Effects of Economic Freedom on National Happiness. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17, pp. 659-712. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-015-9616-x
- Stam, K., Verbakel, E. and De Graaf, P. M. (2013): Explaining variation in work ethic in Europe: Religious heritage rather than modernisation, the welfare state and communism. *European Societies*, 15(2), pp. 268-289. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2012.726734
- Stavrova, O., Fetchenhauer, D. and Schlösser, T. (2013): Why are religious people happy? The effect of the social norm of religiosity across countries. *Social Science Research*, 42(1), pp. 90-105. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.07.002
- Stavrova, O. and Siegers, P. (2014): Religious Prosociality and Morality Across Cultures: How Social Enforcement of Religion Shapes the Effects of Personal Religiosity on Prosocial and Moral Attitudes and Behaviors. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 40(3), pp. 315-333. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167213510951
- Steger, M. F. and Frazier, P. (2005): Meaning in Life: One Link in the Chain From Religiousness to Well-Being. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(4), pp. 574-582. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.574
- Steiner, L., Leinert, L. and Frey, B. S. (2010): Economics, Religion and Happiness. Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsund Unternehmensethik, 11(1), pp. 9-24.
- Stolz, J. (2009): Explaining religiosity: towards a unified theoretical model. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 60(2), pp. 345-376. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01234.x
- Storm, I. (2009): Halfway to Heaven: Four Types of Fuzzy Fidelity in Europe. Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 48(4), pp. 702-718. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2009.01474.x
- Tan, J. H. W. and Vogel, C. (2008): Religion and trust: An experimental study. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29(6), pp. 832-848. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2008.03.002

- Torgler, B. (2006): The importance of faith: Tax morale and religiosity. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 61(1), pp. 81-109. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2004.10.007
- Tov, W. and Diener, E. (2007): Culture and subjective well-being. In: Kitayama. S. and Cohen, D. (eds.): *Handbook of cultural psychology*. New York: Guilford, pp. 691-713. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2352-0_2
- Traunmüller, R. (2011): Moral Communities? Religion as a Source of Social Trust in a Multilevel Analysis of 97 German Regions. *European Sociological Review*, 27(3), pp. 346-363. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq011
- Uecker, J. E., Regnerus, M. D. and Vaaler, M. L. (2007): Losing My Religion: The Social Sources of Religious Decline in Early Adulthood. *Social Forces*, 85(4), pp. 1667-1692. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2007.0083
- Van Cappellen, P., Saroglou, V. and Toth-Gauthier, M. (2016): Religiosity and Prosocial Behavior Among Churchgoers: Exploring Underlying Mechanisms. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 26(1), pp. 19-30, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10508619.2014.958004
- Van Cappellen, P., Toth-Gauthier, M., Saraglou, V. and Frederickson, B. L. (2016): Religion and Well-being: The Mediating Role of Positive Emotions. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(2), pp. 485-505. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-014-9605-5
- Van de Velde, S., Van der Bracht, K. and Buffel, V. (2017): The relation between religion and depression in Europe: The moderating role of the religious context, *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 58(6), pp. 515-532. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0020715217736361
- van Hoorn, A. and Maseland, R. (2013): Does a Protestant work ethic exist? Evidence from the well-being effect of unemployment. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 91, pp. 1-12. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2013.03.038
- van Tienen, M., Scheepers, P., Reitsma, J. and Schilderman, H. (2011): The Role of Religiosity for Formal and Informal Volunteering in the Netherlands. *Voluntas*, 22, pp. 365-389. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-010-9160-6
- VanderWeele, T. J. (2017): Religious Communities and Human Flourishing. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 26(5), pp. 476-481. DOI: https//doi.org/10.1177/0963721417721526
- Voas, D. (2015): The mysteries of religion and the lifecourse. Centre for Longitudinal Studies Working Paper, 2015/1. London: Institute of Education, University College London.
- Voas, D. and Day, A. (2010): Recognizing Secular Christians: Toward an Unexcluded Middle in the Study of Religion. ARDA GUIDING PAPER Series, The Association of Religion Data Archives, Downloaded from http://www.thearda.com/rrh/papers/guidingpapers/Voas.pdf (Accessed 10 December 2021)
- West, B. T. and Galecki, A. T. (2011): An Overview of Current Software Procedures for Fitting Linear Mixed Models. *The American Statistician*, 65(4), pp. 274-282. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1198/tas.2011.11077
- Wilt, J. A., Grubbs, J. B., Pargament, K. I. and Exline, J. J. (2017): Religious and Spiritual Struggles, Past and Present: Relations to the Big Five and Well-Being. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 27(1), pp. 51-64., DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10508619.2016.1183251
- Wink, P. and Dillon, M. (2002): Spiritual Development Across the Adult Life Course: Findings From a Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Adult Development*, 9(1), pp. 79-94. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013833419122

5. RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS BY THE AUTHOR

5.1.1. Chapters in books in Hungarian

- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2011): Vallás és ifjúság. In: Bauer, B. and Szabó, A. (eds.) *Arctalan (?) nemzedék*: Ifjúság 2000-2010. Budapest: Nemzeti Család- és Szociálpolitikai Intézet (NCSSZI), pp. 249-262.
- Hámori, Á. (2014): A hitvilág és a hit összefüggése a vallásossággal és a társadalmi háttérrel. In: Szabó, Zs. (ed.): Kálvinizmus ma - Calvinism Today: Tanulmányok a kálvinizmus mai hatásairól - Studies on the effects of today's Calvinism. (Acta Caroliensia Conventorum Scientiarum Iuridico-Politicarum, Vol. 11) Budapest: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem, Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, pp. 55-67.

5.1.2. Papers and reviews in peer-reviewed journals in Hungarian

Hámori, Á. (2008): Református fiatalok értékvilága és közéleti attitűdjei. Kommentár, 3(1), pp. 31-42.

Luxné Prehoda, A. and Hámori, Á. (2020): Igaz, hogy az idősebbek vallásosabbak? A vallásosság életúton belüli változása. *Socio.hu*, 10(1), pp. 25-44.

5.1.3. Other publications in Hungarian

- Csanády, M. T. and Hámori, Á. (2015): A vallási identitás, a vallásgyakorlat és a protestantizmus Magyarországon a XXI. században. In: Gábriel, D., Kund, A., Paksi, V. and Tibori, T. (eds.): *A bizonytalanság szociológiája*: Konferencia Hankiss Elemér emlékére. Abstract book. Budapest: Magyar Szociológiai Társaság, p. 17.
- Hámori, Á. (2008): Civil elköteleződés Magyarországon. Református Egyház, 60(11) pp. 233-235.
- Hámori, Á. (2011): Ifjúság hit önkéntesség. Confessio, 37(1), pp. 83-95.
- Hámori, Á. (2011): Református esélyek és kilátások. Confessio, 37(4), pp. 6-25.
- Hámori, Á. (2017): Vallás és szubjektív jóllét: Mitől lesz boldog, aki nem hívő? In: Berger, V., Gábriel, D., Kund, A. and Paksi, V. (eds.): A Magyar Szociológiai Társaság éves vándorgyűlése: Konferencia a PTE BTK Szociológiai Tanszékkel és a PTE Demográfia és Szociológia Doktori Iskolával közös rendezésben. Abstract book. Budapest: Magyar Szociológiai Társaság, p. 60-60.
- Hámori, Á. and Luxné Prehoda, A. (2018): Igaz az, hogy az idősebbek vallásosabbak? A vallásosság életúton belüli változásának vizsgálata. In: Gábriel, D. and Kund, A. (eds.): *Átrendeződő értékek*: A Magyar Szociológiai Társaság éves vándorgyűlése. Abstract book. Budapest: Magyar Szociológiai Társaság, p. 57.
- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2012): Ifjúság, életkor, szocializáció: Az ifjúsági vallásosság változása, és ennek összefüggései az életkori hatásokkal valamint a szocializáció helyével. In: *Progresszió-regresszió*: Éves konferencia és közgyűlés. Abstract book. Budapest: Magyar Szociológiai Társaság, p. 24.
- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2013): Ifjúság, életkor, szocializáció: az ifjúsági vallásosság változása, és ennek összefüggései az életkori hatásokkal, valamint a szocializáció helyével. *Confessio*, 39(1), pp. 5-18.
- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2015): Fiatalok és a bizonytalanság. A vallásos és társadalmi kapcsolatok hatása a jövővel kapcsolatos várakozásokra a magyar ifjúság körében az ezredforduló után. In: Gábriel, D., Kund, A., Paksi, V. and Tibori, T. (eds.): A bizonytalanság szociológiája: Konferencia Hankiss Elemér emlékére. Abstract book. Budapest: Magyar Szociológiai Társaság, p. 43.
- Pángyánszky, Á., Siba, B. and Hámori, Á. (2015): A konfirmáció, ahogy a fiatalok látják. *Lelkipásztor*, 90(7), pp. 249-256.
- Siba, B. and Hámori, Á. (2015): Bevonódás kikonfirmálás? A konfirmációs munka mint az ifjúsági misszió eszköze kutatások tükrében. *Igazság és élet*, 9(1), pp. 138-147.

5.2.1. Chapters in books in English

- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2013): Declining Religiosity among Hungarian Youth after the Turn of the Millennium: Main Trends and Possible Explanations. In: Sepsi, E., Balla, P. and Csanády, M. T. (eds.): *Confessionality and University in the Modern World*: 20th Anniversary of "Károli" University. (Studia Caroliensia) Budapest: L'Harmattan Kiadó, pp. 322-338.
- Hámori, Á., Siba, B. and Pángyánszky, Á. (2015): Youth and Confirmation Work in Hungary. In: Schweitzer, F., Niemelä, K., Simojoki, H. and Schlag, T. (eds.): *Youth, Religion and Confirmation Work in Europe*: The Second Study. (Konfirmandenarbeit erforschen und gestalten, 7) Gütersloh: Gütersloher Verlagshaus, pp. 266-279.
- Niemelä, K., Hámori, Á. and Siba, B. (2015): Will the Church Keep Them as Members? The Influence of Confirmation Work on the Commitment to Church Membership. In: Schweitzer, F., Niemelä, K., Simojoki, H., Schlag, T. (eds.): *Youth, Religion and Confirmation Work in Europe*: The Second Study. (Konfirmandenarbeit erforschen und gestalten, 7) Gütersloh: Gütersloher Verlagshaus, pp. 82-92.

5.2.2. Papers and reviews in peer-reviewed journals in English

- Hámori, Á. (2015): Detlef Pollack and Gergely Rosta: Religion in der Moderne. Ein internationaler Vergleich. (book review) Acta Universitatis Sapientiae, 5(2), pp. 207-210.
- Hámori, Á. and Rosta, G. (2013): Youth, Religion, Socialization: Changes in youth religiosity and its relationship to denominational education in Hungary. *Hungarian Educational Research Journal*, 3(4), pp. 49-63.

5.2.3. Other publications in English

- Hámori, Á. (2016): Ethical and Value Orientations through the Lens of Religiosity, Belief and Personality: The Case of Some Hungarian Settlements. In: International Sociological Association: *The futures we want*: Global Sociology and the struggles for a better world. 3rd ISA Forum of Sociology. Abstract book. Vienna: International Sociological Association (ISA), pp. 288-288. Paper RC22-263.5.
- Hámori, Á. (2017): Happiness Found in Belonging. Relationship Between Social Well-Being, Participation, Personal Religiosity, and Subjective Well-Being. In: European Sociological Association: (Un)Making Europe: Capitalism, Solidarities, Subjectivities. 13th Conference of the European Sociological Association. Abstract book. Athens: European Sociological Association, p. 264. Paper RN09 & RN34 | Session 09a.
- Hámori, Á. and Luxné Prehoda, A. (2018): The Older, the More Religious? Analysing Life-course Religious Change in Consecutive Generations. In: Máté-Tóth, A. (ed.): Unblocking Religion. Studying Religion in Today's Central and Eastern Europe. (Religion in Society, 7) Abstract book. Szeged: SZTE BTK Vallástudományi Tanszék, pp. 41-42.